#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-1471

DWAYNE IRWIN PARKER,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAN D. HALLENBERG Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No.0940615

NEAL A. DUPREE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-SOUTHERN REGION

101 N.E. 3rd Avenue. Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284; FAX (954) 713-

1299

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A Broward County grand jury indicted Mr. Parker on one count of first-degree murder, two counts of attempted first-degree murder and nine counts of armed robbery. See Parker v. State, 641 So. 2d 369, 372 (Fla. 1994). Mr. Parker's trial was held in Broward County from April 30 to May 9, 1990. On May 10, 1990, the jury returned a verdict finding him guilty on the murder and armed robbery charges and of the lesser offense of aggravated battery with a firearm on the two counts of attempted murder. See Parker at 373; (R. 2026). At the conclusion of the May 25, 1990, penalty phase, the jury recommended a sentence of death by a vote of eight (8) to four (4) (R. 2326). On June 14, 1990, the trial court sentenced Mr. Parker to death (R. 2332). On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Parker's convictions and sentences. See Parker, 641 So.2d 369 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 944 (1995).

Pursuant to Chapter 119 of the Florida Statutes, Mr. Parker in 1996 requested that the Sheriff provide public records relevant to the investigation into Mr. Parker's case. See (PCR. Vol.1, 146-49)( Sheriff's pleading acknowledging receipt in 1996 of Mr. Parker's initial request for public records with attached cover letter from Sheriff indicating records were provided in response). In response, the Sheriff made certain records

available on June 4, 1996. (*Id.*). Mr. Parker filed an initial motion for post-conviction relief pursuant to rule 3.850 and 3.851 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure on March 24, 1997, and requested leave to amend the motion once the state complied with all outstanding public records requests (PCR. 1-112).

Subsequently, in 1998, rule 3.852(h)(2) was enacted by this Court. Rule 3.852(h)(2) permitted capital defendants who were represented by collateral counsel as of October 1, 1998, and who had already initiated the public records process, to file within 90 days of October 1, 1998, a written demand for additional public records that had not previously been the subject of a request for public records. 3.852(h)(2) Fla. R.Crim. P. December 29, 1998, pursuant to rule 3.852(h)(2), Mr. Parker filed multiple written requests for additional public records, including four separate written requests asking the Sheriff to provide certain additional public records that had not been the subject of a previous public records request. See (Attached Appendix Exh. A-D). The Sheriff objected and the circuit court sustained the objection (PCR. 146-48). As a result, the Sheriff provided to Mr. Parker provided none of the record requested in the 3.852(h)(2) requests.

On June 5, 2000, Mr. Parker filed his final Amended Motion

to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence with Special request for Evidentiary Hearing (PCR. 299-426). The State filed its Response on November 6, 2000 (PCR. 469-616). With leave of the court, Mr. Parker filed a Reply on December 15, 2000 (PCR. 1150-1172).

The court scheduled the Huff hearing for April 18, 2001. Meanwhile, in March of 2001, Mr. Parker filed requests for additional public records under rule 3.852(i) based upon newly learned information of allegations of improper conduct by the Sheriff's office in several murder cases that included allegations against some of the detectives that investigated Mr. Parker's case (PCR. 1183-1257,1258-1267,1268-1286, 1287-1296, 1313-1387). He also renewed his previous motions for production of records of personnel and internal affairs investigation files of several officers involved in the investigation into Mr. Parker's case PCR. 1183-1257,1258-1267,1268-1286, 1287-1296, 1313-1387). At a hearing held on April 18, 2001, the court heard argument and thereafter denied Mr. Parker's requests for additional public records (PCR. 1390-1395). The court also denied his renewed requests for the personnel and internal affairs files for the officers involved in the investigation of Mr. Parker's case, however, the Sheriff agreed to provide internal affairs records of two detectives (PCR. 1395-1399).

The court issued a written order summarily denying all of Mr. Parker's claims on February 8, 2002 (PCR 1484-1511). Mr. Parker filed a motion for rehearing and an amendment to the motion for rehearing (PCR. 1512-1535, 1537-1539). The court denied the motions for rehearing on May 24, 2002 (PCR. 1580).

Mr. Parker filed a timely notice of appeal on June 24, 2002 (PCR 1581-1582). This appeal from the trial court's summary denial of Mr. Parker's initial motion for post-conviction relief follows.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Point I: The circuit court erred in summarily denying claims of ineffective assistance of counsel during the guilt-innocence and penalty phases of the trial.

Point II: The circuit court improperly denied Mr. Parker access to public records and abused its discretion when conducting an *in camara* inspection if sealed records.

Point III: The circuit court erred in summarily denying Mr. Parker's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel related to juror misconduct during penalty phase deliberations.

Point IV: The circuit court erred in summarily denying Mr.

Parker's claim of ineffective assistance during voir dire.

Point V: The circuit court erred in summarily denying Mr.

Parker's claim of systematic discrimination in the selection of the venire.

Point VI: The circuit court erred in summarily denying Mr. Parker's claim of ineffective assistance for failing to effectively object to instructions and comments that shifted the burden to Mr. Parker to prove that death was an inappropriate sentence.

Point VII: The circuit court erred by denying Mr. Parker's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to comments that unconstitutionally diluted the jury's sense of responsibility towards sentencing.

Point VIII: The death penalty is disproportionate in Mr. Parker's given the significant evidence not presented to the jury due to trial counsel's ineffectiveness.

Point IX: The circuit court erred in denying Mr. Parker's claim that the death penalty is being pursued due to the systematic discrimination inherent in the Florida death penalty scheme.

Point X: The circuit court erred by denying Mr. Parker's claim that the jury received inadequate guidance concerning the aggravating circumstances to be considered.

Point XI: The trial court erred by denying Mr. Parker's claim that Florida's capital sentencing statute is

unconstitutional. Point XII: The circuit court erred by denying Mr. Mendoza's claim that electrocution and lethal injection are cruel and/or unusual punishments and constitute inhuman and degrading treatment and/or punishment.

Point XIII: The circuit court erred in denying Mr. Parker's claim that he did not receive a fair trial due to the cumulative effect of constitutional error.

Point XIV: Mr. Parker is insane to be executed.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY SUMMARILY DENYING MR. PARKER'S CLAIMS; MR. PARKER IS ENTITLED TO AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

## A. Erroneous Summary Denial

In his Amended Motion To Vacate Judgment Of Conviction And Sentence With Special Request for Evidentiary Hearing (hereinafter the "Amended Motion"), Mr. Parker set forth substantial and detailed claims demonstrating entitlement to an evidentiary hearing. These claims include specific fact-based allegations that Mr. Parker's trial counsel was ineffective both during the guilt-innocence and penalty phases of the trial. The circuit court refused to grant an evidentiary hearing and summarily denied these claims (PCR. 1484-1511). The circuit court erred because Mr. Parker has alleged facts not conclusively rebutted by the record and which demonstrate deficient trial counsel performance that prejudiced Mr. Parker. This Court should reverse the circuit court's order summarily denying these claims and remand for an evidentiary hearing.

Under rule 3.850, a post-conviction defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless the motion and record conclusively show that the defendant is entitled to no relief.

See Gaskin v. State, 737 So. 2d 509 (Fla. 1999); Rivera v.

State, 717 So. 2d 477 (Fla. 1998). The defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel if he alleges specific facts which are not conclusively rebutted by the record and which demonstrate a deficiency in performance that prejudiced the defendant. See Gaskin at 516 citing Roberts v. State, 568 So. 2d 1255, 1259 (Fla. 1990). The trial court must accept all allegations in the motion as true to the extent they are not conclusively rebutted by the record. See Gaskin at 516; Valle v. State, 705 So. 2d 1331 (Fla. 1997).

On appeal, in order to uphold a trial court's summary denial of claims raised in a 3.850 motion, the claims must be either facially or conclusively refuted by the record. See Peede v. State, 748 So. 2d 253, 257 (Fla. 1999). Where no evidentiary hearing is held below, this Court must accept the defendant's factual allegations to the extent they are not refuted by the record. Id. An evidentiary hearing is presumed necessary absent a conclusive demonstration that the defendant is entitled to no relief. Gaskin at 516. There is a presumption in favor of granting evidentiary hearings on initial 3.850 motions asserting fact-based claims. See Gaskin 737 So. 2d 509, 517 (Fla. 1999) n.17.

## B. Ineffectiveness At Guilt-Innocence Phase

The circuit court erred in denying Claim VI of Mr. Parker's Amended Motion for post-conviction relief. In Claim VI, Mr. Parker asserts that he was denied an adversarial testing at the guilt-innocence phase of his trial due in significant part to the ineffective assistance of trial counsel See (PCR. 319-36). The circuit court summarily denied the claim on the grounds that the claim was either "procedurally barred, conclusory in nature, not supported by the record, and/or legally insufficient to require an evidentiary hearing" (PCR 1491-92). For the reasons set forth below, the circuit court's reasons for denying an evidentiary hearing are erroneous. This Court should reverse the circuit court's order and remand from an evidentiary hearing.

In denying Claim VI, the circuit court first concludes that "[t]here is no allegation that there <u>is</u> any exculpatory evidence that could have been presented to the jury that would have benefitted the defendant, or that any further investigation of the case would have resulted in finding any evidence that would be beneficial to the defendant." (PCR.1491)(emphasis in original). In so concluding, the court ignored the fact that, in Mr. Parker's Amended Motion, he specifically alleges multiple instances of trial counsel's failure to investigate and present evidence that, if presented at trial, would have created a

reasonable probability that the outcome of the guilt-innocense phase would have been different.

Specifically, Mr. Parker asserts that trial counsel failed to present available expert testimony that the color of the photographs showing the bullet lodged in the victim's sacrum that the State entered into evidence as representing the bullet that killed the victim was subject to manipulation and did not necessarily reflect the true color of the bullet shown in the photographs (PCR. 326; Amended Motion p.28) and failed to present expert testimony that it could not be established by a reasonable degree of scientific certainty that the bullet that killed the victim was the same bullet the State claims was fired from Mr. Parker's gun (PCR. 358; Amended Motion p.60, paragraph 70). The Amended Motion also sets forth in detail how defense counsel's failures in this regard prejudiced Mr. Parker (PCR. 322-26; Amended Motion p.24-8).

As explained in the Amended Motion and as set forth clearly in the record, the penultimate issue at the guilt-innocence phase of the trial was whether the bullet that killed the victim was fired from Mr. Parker's gun or from the gun of one of the various deputies who, at the time the victim was shot, were closing in on the area near Mr. Parker and the victim. The defense argued at trial that a deputy, and not Mr. Parker,

actually fired the fatal bullet. The defense's case was bolstered by the very compelling fact that the medical examiner represented in his notes from the autopsy, in the autopsy report itself, and in his initial sworn deposition that the fatal bullet he removed from the victim was silver in color, had little deformations, and had not been cut during its removal. These facts virtually exonerated Mr. Parker from being the shooter and implicated the deputies because it was undisputed that the bullets in Mr. Parker's gun were copper color, not silver, and that the standard issue bullets for Broward Sheriff deputies at the time were silver in color. However, on the eve of trial, the medical examiner, after receiving a telephone call from the State Attorney, made known his intention to testify that he had been mistaken and that the bullet he removed from the victim was actually copper color and had a large cut on it a description which exactly matched the bullet the State presented at trial and argued was the bullet that killed the victim.

The two photographs showing the <u>color</u> of the fatal bullet lodged in the victim's sacrum were critical in that, if the bullet was in fact truly silver in color, then no reasonable jury would have believed that Mr. Parker shot the victim. On the other hand, a truly copper-colored bullet would cast serious

doubt on Mr. Parker's defense. As the record shows, the photographs showed the bullet as having a yellow hue, which suggested that the bullets were copper colored and not silver. As explicitly set forth in the Amended Motion, Mr. Parker asserts trial counsel was ineffective because he failed present available expert testimony that the color of the bullets as shown in the two photographs was subject to manipulation and did not necessarily reflect the true color of the bullet (PCR.326; Amended Motion p.28) and that it could not be established by a reasonable degree of scientific certainty that the bullet that killed the victim was the same bullet the State claims was fired from Mr. Parker's gun (PCR.358; Amended Motion p.60, paragraph 70). As also argued in the Amended Motion (PCR. 326; Amended Motion p.28), trial counsel attempted to cast doubt on the accuracy of the photographs' representation of the color of the bullet by cross-examining the State's photographer based on trial counsel's own lay-person's knowledge of photography. As the record shows, trial counsel's attempt to cast doubt on the photographs' representation of the color of the bullet failed. Mr. Parker now specifically claims in the Amended Motion that trial counsel was ineffective for not presenting available expert testimony that would have done what defense counsel tried, but failed, to do: present compelling evidence that cast

doubt on the whether the bullet shown in those photographs was truly copper in color. Not only was this evidence that trial counsel failed to present exculpatory, but, given the extraordinary circumstances surrounding the bullet - most notably the medical examiners initial reports and sworn statement that the bullet was indeed silver and not cut - there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different had defense counsel presented such expert testimony.

Defense counsel can be ineffective for failing to present expert testimony on an issue even if defense counsel addressed the issue at trial using an expert if the expert presented at trial was not qualified to give an opinion on a particular issue. In Freeman v. State, 761 So. 2d 1055, 1064 (Fla. 2000), defense counsel presented an expert witness in the penalty phase that was not qualified to give an opinion on drug and alcohol abuse. This Court reversed the trial court's summary denial of claim and held that defense counsel may have been ineffective for failing to present an expert "who was qualified to give an opinion on this issue" Id. In Mr. Parker's case, trial counsel presented no expert on photography but instead relied on counsel's own lay-person's knowledge of photography in failed attempt to cast doubt the photographs' on

representation of the color of the bullet. Under Freeman, Mr. Parker is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on the issue of whether trial counsel was ineffective for failing to obtain available expert testimony that could have provided the jury with an expert opinion that the photographs did not represent the true color of the bullet.

In a related issue, the circuit court ignored Mr. Parker's claim that, while the State had originally turned over to trial counsel through the discovery process a negative of a photograph showing the bullet removed from the victim that appeared silver in color, trial counsel failed to present this highly exculpatory evidence into evidence (PCR. 325-26; Amended Motion p.27-28, para. 17 and 19). Had trial counsel presented evidence to the jury of this photograph showing a silver-colored bullet, again, for the reasons outlined above and in the Amended Motion, there is a reasonable probability that outcome would have been different.

The circuit court also failed to acknowledge the fact the Mr. Parker specifically alleges that trial counsel failed to discover and present available evidence that there were bullets fired from Mr. Parker's gun that were never accounted for by police investigators. This evidence, as alleged in the motion, would have supported Mr. Parker's defense that police secretly

recovered one of these unaccounted for bullets and switched it with the silver bullet that the medical examiner removed from the victim (PCR. 328-29; Amended Motion pp.30-31, para..26).

The circuit court also overlooked the fact that Mr. Parker specifically alleges that trial counsel failed to present evidence that Mr. Parker was at least twenty (20) feet from the victim at the time witness Tammy Duncan heard the fatal shot (PCR. 329; Amended Motion p.31). This evidence was highly exculpatory because Dr. Bell, the medical examiner, testified at trial that, according to his examination of the victim, the gun that fired the fatal bullet was no more that two (2) feet away from the victim when the fatal shot was fired. In light of Dr. Bell's testimony, if Mr. Parker was at least twenty feet from the victim, Mr. Parker could not have been the person who fired the fatal bullet. Trial counsel failed to present this evidence to the jury. Had he done so, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different, especially when considered with the other evidence that trial counsel failed to present as discussed above.

Mr. Parker's Amended Motion also specifically alleges that trial counsel failed to present available evidence that the deputies who were chasing Mr. Parker were aware that there had been another robbery in the area that night, that the victim was

involved with a group of persons suspected of being involved other local robberies, and that a description of one of the robbery suspects had been circulated that resembled the victim (PCR. 332; Amended Motion p.34). Mr. Parker also alleges specifically that trial counsel also failed to present evidence that the victim had been with these robbery suspects on the night of the incident and may have been running from police when he heard the sirens (Id.). As specifically alleged in the Amended Motion, this evidence would have provided further support for the defense's theory that a deputy shot the victim believing the victim to be an armed robber (Id.). The evidence that trial counsel failed to present regarding the origin of the is entirely consistent with the post-trial fatal bullet testimony of Brent Kissinger who, at the hearing on Mr. Parker's motion for new trial, testified that he saw a deputy stand in a firing position with a shiny object and yell "H[a]lt or I'll shoot" just before hearing one shot and seeing a man (the victim) lying on the ground (R. 2053).

The circuit court also ignored the fact that Mr. Parker asserts that trial counsel failed to present evidence that several persons at the scene indicated that a deputy, and not Mr. Parker, shot the victim (PCR. 331; Amended Motion p.33), and that a deputy, other than deputy McNesby, was approaching the

victim at the time of the fatal shot and could have been the shooter (Id.). Mr. Parker also asserts that trial counsel failed to effectively impeach Tammy Duncan to the extent that counsel failed to impeach her with the fact that, while she testified at trial that Deputy McNesby got to the location of the victim several minutes after the victim was shot, in her prior sworn statement, she stated that Deputy McNesby was in front of and close to the victim at the time the fatal shot was fired (PCR. 330-31; Amended Motion pp.32-3). This strongly suggests that Deputy McNesby fired the fatal shot in light of Dr. Bell's testimony that, based on his expert opinion, the shooter fired the gun from within a distance of no more than two (2) feet of the victim.

In sum, as outlined above, the circuit court's conclusion that Mr. Parker's Amended Motion makes no allegations of exculpatory evidence that could have been presented to the jury and benefitted Mr. Parker is simply incorrect. The allegations asserted by Mr. Parker are sufficient to entitle him to an evidentiary hearing.

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