IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC02-1471

DWAYNE IRWIN PARKER,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

*** ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, (Criminal Division)

* * *

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

Leslie T. Campbell
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No.: 0066631
1515 North Flagler Drive
9th Floor
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
Telephone: (561) 837-5000
Facsimile: (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

POINT VII

THE CLAIM OF A <u>CALDWELL</u> VIOLATION WAS DENIED PROPERLY (restated)

Referencing collateral Claim XIII, Parker asserts counsel failed to "effectively object" to prosecutorial comments and court instructions which violated Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472

U.S. 320 (1985) and Ring.²⁵ This claim is not preserved for appeal and the issue is not pled sufficiently. Summary denial was proper under the standard of review announced in Diaz, 719 So.2d at 868. The order should be affirmed as the law and facts support the ruling.

Below, Parker did not reference counsel's actions respecting Caldwell and the jury instructions (PCR 387-90). Hence, the matter is not preserved. Steinhorst, 412 So.2d at 338. Also, he does not plead this issue fully, but makes conclusory statements in referencing his claim below and the new issue of deficient performance. In fact the prejudice prong of Strickland is not even mentioned. Although he asserts there were improper prosecutorial comments, Parker does not identify them. All record cites are to the instructions given by the court. These deficiencies demand the matter be considered waived, Duest, 555 So.2d at 852, or barred Kennedy, 547 So.2d at 913.

In denying this claim, the court noted the standard instructions had been given and affirmed by this Court. (PCR 1499). On direct appeal, Parker raised as Points VIII and XII

 $^{^{25}}$ Because Parker did not challenge his capital sentence on Sixth Amendment grounds on direct appeal (PCR 670-97), he may not rely upon Ring for support and the matter is procedurally barred. The State reincorporates it Ring argument presented in Point VI.

(PCR 678, 687-88) challenges to instructions on the jury's sentencing role and the constitutionality under <u>Caldwell</u>. In response, this Court stated "the constitutional challenges have been rejected previously, and we refuse to reconsider them." <u>Parker</u>, 641 So.2d at 377. Because a postconviction motion may not be used as a second appeal, the court correctly denied relief. <u>Muhammad</u>, 603 So.2d at 489; <u>Harvey</u>, 656 So.2d at 1255-56 (reasoning challenges to jury instruction procedurally barred as it was raised on direct appeal); <u>Gorham v. State</u>, 521 So.2d 1067, 1070 (Fla. 1988) (same).

Caldwell challenges have been rejected repeatedly. "[T]he standard jury instruction fully advises the jury of the importance of its role, correctly states the law...and does not denigrate the role of the jury." Brown v. State, 721 So.2d 274, 283 (Fla. 1998)(citation omitted); Burns v. State, 699 So.2d 646 (Fla. 1997); Turner v. Dugger, 614 So.2d 1075 (Fla. 1992). It is unnecessary to inform jurors under what conditions the advisory opinion would be overridden. Burns, 699 So.2d at 654. Should the merits be reached, counsel was not ineffective as the standard instruction was given. Floyd v. State, 808 So.2d 175, 191 n.10 (Fla. 2002) (finding no ineffectiveness where counsel did not raise Caldwell violation); Thomas v. State, 838 So.2d 535, 541-42 (Fla. 2003) (same); Mendyk, 592 So.2d at 1080

(concluding when jury instructions are proper counsel is not ineffective for not challenging them).

POINT VIII

PARKER'S CHALLENGE TO THE PROPORTIONALITY OF HIS SENTENCE IS BARRED (restated)

Parker would have this Court conduct another proportionality review using the evidence he suggests counsel failed to present. In conclusory terms Parker references the collateral claims where he noted more evidence should have been presented. Not only is the claim insufficiently pled, <u>Duest</u>, 555 So.2d at 852, but Parker does not apply the proper standard for analysis.

In support, Parker cites <u>Almeida v. State</u>, 748 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1999), <u>Besara v. State</u>, 656 So.2d 441 (Fla. 1998), and <u>Proffitt v. State</u>, 510 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1987). All are direct appeal cases where proportionality review is mandated. Yet, this is a collateral attack and the analysis to be conducted is different. These cases are not controlling.

When claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are raised, the applicable standard is <u>Strickland</u>, and the court must assess whether counsel's performance was deficient and prejudicial. To establish prejudice, the defendant must show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 694. The appellate court does not

conduct another proportionality review. It merely assesses whether the missing evidence was the result of counsel's deficiency and whether there is a reasonable probability the proceedings would have been different had the evidence been offered. Because this analysis has been conducted in Point I, the State reincorporates its answer here, reasserting counsel was not ineffective.

POINT IX

THE CLAIM THE SENTENCE WAS IMPOSED PURSUANT TO A PATTERN OF DISCRIMINATION IS IMPROPERLY PLED AND SUMMARY DENIAL WAS CORRECT (restated)

Merely noting the postconviction claim raised below, Parker alleges summarily was improper. This issue does not satisfy the pleading requirements of <u>Duest</u>, 555 So.2d at 852 and should be found waived. Under <u>Diaz</u>, 719 So.2d at 868, the standard of review is that a summary denial will be affirmed if supported by the law and competent substantial evidence. The denial meets this standard and should be affirmed.

In the postconviction motion, Parker referenced law review articles and reports presenting a statistical analysis of death sentences (PCR 100-04). Citing <u>Dobbs v. Zant</u>, 720 F.Supp. 1566, 1572 (N.D. Ga. 1989) and <u>McClesky v. Kemp</u>, 481 U.S. 279, 282 (1987), he admitted to succeed he would have to show "the decision-makers in his case acted with discriminatory purpose,

or that the decision-makers possessed racial biases that created 'an unacceptable risk that affected the sentencing decision.'"

Yet, he offered the court nothing more than he was a black defendant accused of killing a white victim and the death sentence "was the direct result of the inherent discrimination in Florida's death penalty statute." (PCR 398, 402). The court recognized the pleading deficiency in its denial of the claim. (PCR 1501-02).

In <u>Foster</u>, 614 So.2d at 463-64, this Court rejected the defendant's claim of discrimination in capital sentencing as Foster, like the defendant in <u>McClesky v. Kemp</u>, "offered no evidence specific to his own case to support an inference that racial considerations played a part in his sentence." This Court relied upon <u>Harris</u>, 885 F.2d at 1375 to affirm the summary denial as the defendant offered no proof his decision-makers "acted with discriminatory purpose." Parker offered far less, as such, the summary denial should be affirmed.

POINT X

THE CHALLENGE TO THE AGGRAVATOR INSTRUCTIONS IS INSUFFICIENTLY PLED AND BARRED (restated)

In wholly conclusory terms, 26 Parker asserts either counsel

²⁶ Conclusory appellate arguments which merely cite to a prior pleading are insufficient and will be deemed waived. <u>Duest</u>, 555 So.2d at 852; <u>Roberts</u>, 568 So.2d at 1260. Parker's argument meets this definition ans should be considered waived.

was ineffective or the court erred in giving "inadequate and vague" instructions. The standard of review to be applied, announced in <u>Diaz</u>, 719 So.2d at 868, is that the summary denial will be affirmed where the law and competent substantial evidence supports it.

Below Parker claimed the jury instructions related to the four aggravators were improper and counsel was ineffective (PCR 360). At trial, counsel requested 30 special jury instructions, all of which were rejected (TR 2783-50, 2274) and on appeal he challenged that decision along with the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the aggravation, with the exception of the prior violent felony aggravator (PCR 677-78, 680-83). Although in a footnote it was noted challenges to the avoid arrest and great risk aggravators had not been preserved, this Court specifically found the objection to the felony murder aggravator had been rejected previously and that there was "no error in the instructions the court did give to the jury." Parker, 641 So.2d at 376-77 n.12. This unequivocal statement establishes all the instructions met constitutional muster. Any postconviction challenge is barred.

Constitutional challenges to all Parker's aggravators, have been rejected. <u>Hudson v. State</u>, 708 So.2d 256, 261 (Fla. 1998) (prior violent felony aggravator); <u>Blanco v. State</u>, 706 So.2d 7,

11 (Fla. 1997) (felony murder); <u>Banks v. State</u>, 700 So.2d 363, 367 (Fla. 1997) (same); <u>Parker v. Dugger</u>, 537 So.2d 969 (Fla. 1988) (same); Davis v. State, 698 So.2d 1182, 192-93 (Fla. 1997) (avoid arrest); Wike v. State, 698 So.2d 817 (Fla. 1997)(same); Whitton v. State, 649 So.2d 861, 867 n. 10 (Fla. 1994)(same); Van Poyck v. State, 564 So.2d 1066, 1070 (Fla. 1990) (great risk). Based upon this, counsel performance was not ineffective as the instructions given, challenged or unchallenged, were proper. Moreover, this Court had found the record supported the finding of the aggravators. Hence, neither deficient performance nor prejudice under Strickland can be established as there is no reasonable probability, that had the instructions been challenged the result of the proceeding would have been different. Sweet v. Moore, 822 So.2d 1269, 1275 (Fla. 2002) (rejecting suggestion counsel could be ineffective as this Court concluded on direct appeal trial evidence clearly established avoid arrest aggravator); Arbelaez v. State, 775 So.2d 909, 915 (Fla. 2000) (concluding even if counsel were deficient for not objecting to instruction there could be no prejudice as evidence established aggravator); Mendyk, 592 So.2d at 1080 (holding when jury instructions are proper counsel is not ineffective in failing to object). The summary denial was proper.

POINT XI

FLORIDA'S CAPITAL SENTENCING IS CONSTITUTIONAL

In two sentences, Parker references postconviction Claim XVII and asserts error. The issue is waived as it does not satisfy the pleading requirements of <u>Duest</u>, 555 So.2d at 852. Nonetheless, under <u>Diaz</u>, 719 So.2d at 868, the standard of review is a summary denial will be affirmed if supported by the law and competent substantial evidence. The court's order meets this standard.

Below, Parker claimed Florida's capital sentencing denied him due process and constituted "cruel and unusual punishment on its face and as applied" based upon the: (1) form of execution; (2) standard of proof for weighing aggravators and mitigators; (3) lack of independent reweighing of the factors; (4) vagueness, inconsistency in application of aggravators; and (5) use of the felony murder aggravator. While he claimed "[t]o the extent defense counsel failed to properly preserve this issue," counsel rendered prejudicially deficient assistance²⁷ (PCR 403-

The allegation of ineffectiveness is conclusory and barred. Asay, 769 So.2d at 989 (finding "one sentence" conclusory allegation improper pleading and attempt to relitigate barred claims); Freeman, 761 So.2d at 1067(finding bare allegation of ineffectiveness does not overcome bar of underlying claim); Medina, 573 So.2d at 295 (holding ineffectiveness claim may not be used to circumvent rule against postconviction serving as second appeal; Rivera, 717 So.2d at 482 n.5 (finding claim barred as it merely used different argument to raise prior claim); Marajah v. State, 684 So.2d 726,

04), Parker has abandoned the issue here.

At trial and on appeal, counsel raised constitutional challenges to the death penalty (PCR 670-78, 680-84, 687-97, 1076-1144). All were denied, and such rulings were affirmed on appeal. Parker, 641 So.2d at 376-77. The court correctly denied relief as the claim was barred. Parker is not permitted to relitigate issues which were raised and rejected on appeal. Teffeteller v. State, 734 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1999); Muhammad, 603 So.2d at 489.

Should this Court reach the merits, it will recognize Florida's capital sentencing has been found constitutional in light of a myriad of challenges. Bottoson, 833 So.2d at 695; King, 831 So.2d at 143; Mills, 786 So.2d at 537; Sims v. Moore, 754 So.2d 657 (Fla. 2000); Provenzano v. Moore, 744 So.2d 413, (Fla. 1999); Remeta v. Singletary, 717 So.2d 536 (Fla. 1998); Pooler v. State,

704 So. 2d 1375 (Fla. 1997); <u>Hunter v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d 244, 252-53 (Fla. 1995); <u>Parker</u> 641 So. 2d at 376-77; <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 261, 267 (Fla. 1993); <u>Henry v. State</u>, 613 So. 2d 429, 433 n.11, 13 (Fla. 1992); <u>Dougan v. State</u>, 595 So. 2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1992); <u>Sochor v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 285 at 292; <u>Young v. State</u>, 579 So. 2d 721 (Fla. 1991); <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 574 So. 2d 108

^{728 (}Fla. 1996).

(Fla. 1991). This claim fails procedurally and on its merits.

POINT XII

EXECUTION BY ELECTROCUTION OR LETHAL INJECTION IS CONSTITUTIONAL (restated)

_____In conclusory fashion, Parker identifies his postconviction claim and asserts execution by electrocution or lethal injection is unconstitutional and violative of international law. This issue is waived under <u>Duest</u>, 555 So.2d at 852, and given its repeated rejection by this Court, the summary denial meets the standard of review noted in <u>Diaz</u>, 719 So.2d at 868.

In Point XI, reincorporated here, capital sentencing is constitutional. Specifically, execution by lethal injection and electrocution have been upheld Arbelaez v. State, 775 So.2d 909 (Fla. 2000); Kearse v. State, 770 So.2d 1119 (Fla.2000); Sims, 754 So.2d at 657; Bryan, 753 So.2d at 1253; Provenzano, 744 So.2d at 413; San Martin v. State, 705 So.2d 1337, 1350 (Fla. 1997). This Court has rejected claims based on international law. Knight v. State, 746 So.2d 423, 437 (Fla. 1998); Arango v. State, 437 So.2d 1099, 1104 (Fla. 1983). Parker has offered no basis for altering this Court's well settled position. The ruling must be affirmed.

POINT XIII

PARKER'S CLAIM OF CUMULATIVE ERRORS IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND MERITLESS (restated)

Without identifying the errors, Parker asserts his trial was unfair due to their cumulative effect. Parker cites several cases which recognize cumulative errors may deprive a defendant of a fair trial. However, as answered in Points I - XII, reincorporated here, no errors occurred below, thus, there can be no cumulative effect necessitating a new trial. Moreover, the effect of cumulative error is a direct appeal issue and having failed to raise it there, Parker is procedurally barred. Occhicone v. State, 768 So.2d 1037, 1040 n.3 (Fla. 2000) (holding cumulative errors argument is direct appeal issue and procedurally barred in collateral review); Torres-Arboleda v. Dugger, 636 So.2d 1321, 1323-24 (Fla. 1994). Because the individual claims are either procedurally barred or meritless, a fortiori, Parker has suffered no cumulative effect which invalidates his sentence. Downs, 740 So. 2d at 509 (finding where allegations of individual errors are meritless, cumulative error argument must fall); Melendez v. State, 718 So.2d 746, 749 (Fla. 1998); <u>Zeigler v. State</u>, 452 So.2d 537, 539 (Fla. 1984), sentence vacated other grounds, 524 So.2d 419 (Fla. 1988). This claim should be denied summarily.

POINT XIV

PARKER'S CLAIM HE IS INSANE TO BE EXECUTED IS PREMATURE AND PLED INSUFFICIENTLY (restated).

Not only does Parker admit his claim is premature, as he did below, but he merely references that claim, without argument. In denying relief, the court accepted Parker's representation of prematurity and note no facts were offered in support of the claim (PCR 405, 1502-03). Without factual support for the claim, summary denial was proper. LeCroy, 727 So.2d at 239 (upholding summary denial where no factual support provided); Engle v. State, 576 So.2d 698, 700 (Fla. 1992). The conclusory nature of the appellate argument demands it be deemed waived. Duest, 555 So.2d at 852. However, the court's order is supported by the law, thus it should be affirmed. Diaz, 719 So.2d at 868.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, the State requests respectfully that this Court affirm the denial of postconviction relief.